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INDEPENDENT AUDITOr’S ]~EPORT

Board of Education
Menasha Joint School District
Menasha, Wisconsin

Report on the Financ~a| Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of Menasha Joint School District (District), as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
District’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the F~nanc~a| Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the District’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of Menasha Joint School District, as of June 30, 2017, and the respective changes in
financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter
For the year ended June 30, 2017, the District has implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions, GASB Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment
Benefit Plans Other than Pension Plans, and GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this
matter.



Other Ma~ers

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 3-12 and the required supplementary information as listed in the table of
contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which oonsisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the District’s basic financial statements. The nonmajor governmental funds, general fund, and
agency funds combining schedules, listed as other supplementary information in the table of contents, are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The schedules of expenditures of federal and state awards are presented for purposes of additional analysis
as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and the State Single Audit
Guidelines, and are also not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The nonmajor governmental funds, general fund, and agency funds combining schedules and the schedules
of expenditures of federal and state awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from and
relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Audith~g Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 24, 2018,
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters.
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control over financial reporting
and compliance.

ERICKSON & ASSOCIATES, S.C.
Appleton, Wisconsin
January 24, 2018
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

This section of Menasha Joint School District’s (District) annual financial report presents our discussion and
analysis of the District’s financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. Please read it in
conjunction with the District’s financial statements, which follow this section.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The District’s overall financial status, as reflected in total net position, increased by $2,222,585.

The General Fund (Fund 10) fund balance decreased from $8,515,314 to $8,284,912. The original
budget was adopted with the expectation of an increase in fund balance. The actual decrease in
Fund 10 was $230,402. The additional spending was approved by the Board of Education that was
intended to take advantage of the higher aid amount for the year.

As of June 30, 2017, the District’s governmemal funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$10.8M, a decrease of $1.06M in comparison with the prior year, The entire fund balance has been
assigned or restricted for specific purposes with the largest amount set aside to pay future
contractual salaries.

Board of Education policy states that it "will annually review the fund balance and strive to
maintain an operating reserve of 20% of the anticipated General Fund expenditures budget for the
subsequent year or a balance sufficient to avoid cash flow borrowing, whichever is greater. ’" As of
June 30, 2017, the fund balance for the General Fund was $8.3M, or approximately 21.7% of the
2016-2017 budgeted General Fund expenditures.

-3-



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

0 VER VIEW OF THE FINANCIAL XTA TEMENTS

This annual financial report consists of two parts - management’s discussion and analysis and the basic
financial statements, including notes to the financial statements and supplementary information.

The basic financial statements consist of two kinds of statements that present different views of the
District’s financial activities.

District-wide Financial Statements

The Statement ~"Net Position compares assets to liabilities to give an overall view of the financial
health of the District. This statement includes fixed assets and long-term liabilities.

The Statement ~Activities defines the District’s expenses by function and illustrates the total that
is offset by corresponding revenues - charges for services and/or operating grants and
contributions. General revenues and extraordinary credits are identified. The result is total net
expense offset by general and miscellaneous revenue - recognizing the change in net position for
the District from the previous year.

Fund Financial Statements

The remairfing statements: Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds and Statement ~ Revenues~
g~end ureE,o.a._nd Ch~n~ ~n Fund Balances - Governmental Funds focus on individual parts of
the District, Fund financial statements generally report operations in more detail than the district-
wide statements,

The Notes to Financial Statements provide further explanation of some of the information in the statements
and provide additional disclosures so statement users have a complete picture of the District’s financial
activities .and position.

Reguired Su~lementa~{N~ormation further explains and supports the financial statements,

Other S~%4            rmation provides information specific to nonmajor governmental funds and
schedules of federal and state awards.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MLANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

The major features of the District’s financial statements, including the scope of the activities reported and
type of information contained, is shown in the following table. (Table #1)

Table #1

Scope

Required
financial
statements

Basis of
accoanting and
measurement
focus

Type of asset
and liability
information

Type of inflow
and outflow
information

District-wide
Statements

Entire District
(except fiduciary
funds).

Statement of net
position and
statement of
activities.

Accrual accomating.

Economic resources
focus.

All assets and
liabilities, both
financial and capital,
short-term and long-
term.

All revenues and
expenses during the
year, regardless of
when cash is received
or paid.

.................. Fund Financial Statements ...................

Governmental

The activity of the
District that is not
proprietary or fiduciary,
such as instructional,
support services, and
community services.

Balance sheet and
statement of revenues,
expenditures, and
changes in fund balance.

Modified accrual
accounting.

Current financial
resources focus.

Generally, assets
expected to be used up
and liabilities that come
due during the year or
soon thereafter. No
capital assets or long-
term liabilities included.

Revenues for which cash
is received during or
soon after the end of the
year, and expenditures
when goods or services
have been received and
the related liability is due
and payable.

Proprietary

Activities the District
operates similar to
private business. Th.._~e
Districl does

Statement of net position,
statement of revenues,
expenses and changes in
net position, and
statement of cash flows.

Accrual accounting.

Economic resources
focus.

All assets and liabilities,
both financial and
capital, short-term and
long-term.

All revenues and
expenses during the year,
regardless of when cash
is received or paid.

Fiduciary

Assets held by the
District on behalf of
someone else. Student
and other organizations
that have funds on
deposit with the District
are reported here. The
private-purpose trust
fund is reported here.

Statement of fiduciary
net position and
statement of changes in
fiduciary net position.

Accrual accounting.

Economic resources
focus.

All assets and liabilities,
both financial and
capital, short-term and
long-term. These funds
do not currently contain
any capital assets,
although they can.

All additions or
deductions during the
year, regardless of when
cash is received or paid.



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

Table #2

Condensed Statement of Net Position

Assets

Current Assets

Capital Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

As Restated % Chang~
2017 201~6

$15,938,717 $16,015,301 -1%

$55,037,301 $52,266,999 5%

$70,976,018 $68~82~00 4%

$10,876,521 $12,875,380 -16%

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position

Net investment in Capital Assets

Restricted

Unrestricted

$7,938,771 $6,930,849 15%

$49,424,112 $51,900,959 -5%

-3%$57,362,883           $58,831,808

$5,083,194 $5,141,995 - 1%

$10,782,301 $8,296,999 30%

$2,359,811 $2,883,304 -18%

$6,264,350 $6,003,574 4%

Total Net Position $19,406,462 $17,183,877 13%

~tement o[ Net Position: (Table #2_2

The District’s overall financial stares, as reflected in total net position, increased by $2,222,585 to $19.4M.
The District reported total assets of $71M, of which $55M are capita! assets. The District reported total
liabilities of $57.4M, of which $49.4M are long-term liabilities.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

Table #3

Changes in Net Position from Operating Results
For Governmental Activities

Revenues:

Program

2016-17 ~ 201216

Charges for Services $3,381,004 6% $2,626,247 5% 29%

Operating Grants $7,253,765 13% $7,160,656 14% 1%

Property Taxes $14,822,023 28% $14,548,087 29% 2%

Gener~ State Aids $27,735,376 52% $25,998,480 51% 7%

Other $198,078 1% $301,532 1% -34%

Total Revenues

Expenses:

Instruction $23,851,789 47% $25,871,771 50%

Support Services $16,707,467 33% $16,641,811 32% 0%

Nonprogram $4,113,584 8% $3,671,045 7% 12%

Food Service $2,077,256 4% $2,038,228 4% 2%

Community Service $871,887 2% $789,745 2% 10%

Interest and Fiscal Charges $1,693,567 3% $1,679,389 3% 1%

Unallocated Depreciation $1,852,111 3% $1,37~),826 2% 35%

Total Expenses $51,167,661 100% $52,062~815 100% -2%

Change in Net Position $2,222,585 $(1,427,813) 256%



~ANA~EMENT’$ D~$CU$5~©N AND ANAL¥~5
For ~I~e Year Ended June 30, 2017

endiCures included in {Table #32

Inspection costs include expenses for all activities that are part of the District’s program° This
includes expenses ~.~r ~ally orga~6zed ar~&/or separately budgeted instructional activities that
axe c~ed out d~ir~g the academic year.

Academic support costs include expenses incurred to provide s°apport services for the Districfs
prima~~ missions: instruction and punic service° This category also includes expenses for central,
executiveAeveI activities concerned with DisNct mar~agement and long-range plamning, fiscN
operations, administrative data processing, employee persom~el and records, storerooms, and
priming, etc.

Nonprogram expenditures in general are any expendiV~es that are for purposes other than the
instructional activities the Dist6ct is primarily created to conduct. These include overhead, ntility
costs, tra~spo~ation, a~d contracted services.

Food service expenditures include all those expenses related to the prep~ation ~d delive~ of
food to the District as well as supervision of the sradent body d~ng lunch hours.

Cosmmnity service accosts ~Sr activities such as adult educaion, community recreation
progra~ns, non-special education preschool, day c~e services, ~d other pro~ams which are not
element~ and seconda~~ educmion progr~s but have the primly function of se~ing the
co~tyo Exgmples of these types of expenses are salaries, benefits, travel, purchased se~ices,
etco

Interest and fiscal ch~ges relate to all those costs incurred f~r b~kir~g and interest charges reIated
to the Dist~ct’s longoterm debt obligations.

Uaallocated depreciation expendit~es ~e related to allocating the cost of a t~gible ~set over its
asefu~ lif~o

For FYIT, the District received $53o4M in revenue. This is ~ iacre~e of 5% or $2o75M over the
wevious year. Prope~y taxes increased from the p~or ye~ by $273,936 to $14o8M and general
state aids increased by $1o7M to $27.7Mo For FY17, 28% of total reverme c~e ~om Iocal school
woperty t~es, ~d 52% of the total came in the fo~ of general state Ndso ~e District received
approximately 19% of all revenue in the fb~ of specific use state aid, federal grits, conMbufior~s
~om indi~4dt~als, ~d direct fees for services.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

Reven~es: (Table #32 - Continued

Individuals who directly participated or received benefits from a program offering contributed
$3.38M of the cost, an increase of $754,757 from the prior year. Book and activity fees,
admissions to athletic events, school lunch fees, open enrollment tuition, and building rental fees
are included here.

Individuals and federal and state government subsidized certain programs with grants and
contributions of $7.25M, which is an increase of $93,109 from the prior year. Special education,
transportation, breakfast, and lunch aids are included here.

For FY17, the District’s total expenditure amount was $51.17M. This is a decrease of $895,154
from the prior year. For FY17, 47% was directed to instruction and 33% was directed to support
services. Nonprogram expenditure amounts were 8% of the total. The food service and
community service programs represented 6%, and costs for debt service represented 3% of total
expenditures.



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

Table #4

Net Cost of Governmental Activities

Instruction

Support Services

Nonprogram

Food Service

Community Service

Interest and Fiscal Charges

Unallocated Depreciation

Total Cost of Services Net Cost of Services
2017 2017

$23,851,789 $17,985,638

$16,707,467 $14,338,773

$4,113,584 $3,894, t 87

$2,077,256 $(25,248)

$871,887 $793,864

$1,693,567 $1,693,567

$1,852,111 $1,852,111

Totals $51~167,661 $40,532,892

vernmemal dctivities: f~p& #~

® Total cost of all gove~maentaI activities was $51o 17Mo

Net cost of govemmemal activities, $40o5M, was financed by general revenues, which are primarily
made t~p of property taxes, $14.8M, and general state a~ds, $27o7M. Miscellaneous a~d investmem
earnings accounted for $198,078o In addition, District operations were s~absidized by
which was collected t~ough ~rect f~es and operating grants°

Consistent wi~h cu~ent state statutes and regulations, ~ original budget is adopted in October to
reflect Ne actual revenue cap m~d state aid ce~ificationo ~e District amended its originally adopted
budget in 2016-17o

F~d 10 budget was o6ginally approved ~ a su~lus of $676,079° The actual results for tSe ye~
showed a deficit of $230,402.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2017

The District shows a total for all fund balances of $10,786,393 as of June 30, 2017.

$8,284,912 is in ~e General F~and (Fund 10)~ This rewese~ts 21 °7% of exper~dit~eso 71~e majority of
this farid baia~ee is assigned for ~ture contractual saIary obligatior~so

$I,152,935 in the Debt Se~ice Fm~d (Funds 38 & 39) is reserved to make furze payments on longo
~erm debt as required by law.

$886,638 in the Capital Projects Fund (Fund 49) is reserved for f~mre capital projects°

~ Fm~d bala~xces in ~e Food Service Fund and Community Service Fund will be ~sed to fmad
contirming operations in those ~ndso

Capital Assets

÷ At year-end, the District had $55o04M in capital assets. F~her detail can be found ~n Note 3 to the
financial statemen%o

Long~te~ Debt

÷ At yearoend, the Dis~ct had $51 .gM in longote~ obligatio~so Further detail can be ~ound in Note 5
to the fin~c~al statements°

State imposed revenue limits will continue to challenge the budgets of school districts throu~out the state,
especially those w~th steady or declining e~ollmems. ~e state made no ch~ge to the revenue limit instead
opting m cor~t~nue to :~d categoricN per pup~l aid. This aid c~m be ch~ged in ~y budget cycle with more
ease than lowe~ng ~he revenue limit° ~e change in per pupil ~m~t does not have ~ impact on the overall
district budget due to it being oneotime money and could be removed at ~y time° As in p~t ye~s, the
reven~:~e l~mit guidelines set forth by the state creates ~ even larger challenge ~br schools to bNance the
budget ~thom impacting educational programs and local school mx levieso C~ent revenue limit laws
allow school districts to make up ~y reduction in state aid by incre~ing locai property taxes wi~in Ne
total Nlowed revenue limits~ Any fu~her reductions in state generai aid could result in increased prope~y
t~es under c~er~t lawo Prowrty t~ ~ncreases are unpopul~ with the comm~i~ ~d, there~k’~re, distasteful
to legislatorso Ch~ges in the revenue limit law, possible t~ le~ limits/~eezes, or other related proposals
will continue to be reviewed, making Nt~e general fund revenues ~certaino
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~v~ENAS}~A JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

M~NAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For me Year Ended June 30, 2017

The Dis~ct realized a decrease in total em’ollment over Ne prior year of 2015-16 win an e~olIment head
co°m~t total of 3,510 students’ Pre-K through Grade 12. However, giver~ Ne cm~ent er~ollment trend a~d Ne
characteristics of the revenue limit law, wNch has been in place since 1993, the Dist~Sct will again be
required to pla~ for a significamt projected shortfal! even win the operation budget reductions planned for
Ne subsequent budget. It should be noted Nat the District took measures to reduce the projected shor~falIs
[br Ne 20I 5-2016 b-adget year with benefit concessions by District employees as well as char~ges in state
law to meet Ne overall reductions in state equalizatior, aid. Budget plavming milizes Ne services of Prudent
Marl Analysis (PMA) to ~brecast budget projections for 2016-17 and beyond.

Impact of Projected B=dget Red=efio~s - The largest share of Ne District’s expenditure budget
(approximately 61% of total operating expenditures) is for sala~es a~d benefits of stuff that provide direct
ins~cfion ~d other support services° In order to bN~ce the 2016-17 budge~, the District negotiated
strongly tbr a favorable renewal for the health instance benefits of Dis~ct employeeso AINough there were
miNmal increases from Nese cha~qges, Ne Dist6ct still faced numerous ~eeds in other ~eas Nat ~fimately
coNd ~ot be avoided arid will impact Ne Dist~ct’s fired bal~ce in fi~e years.

Pro~e~te8 Cost of Nea~tR & De=tzi I~s~ra=ee - A1Nough the Dist6ct has t~en positive steps to contain
the cost of heatN ~d dentN insur~ce benefits ch~ging ~’om the point-of-service plan to an HMO, wNle
providing yew reasonabIe benefits for its employees, the rate of increase in these benefits cominues to
exceed the rate of increase Nlowed for by the revenue limit guidelines. Therefore, benefits have the
potentiN to increase the percemage share of totai compensation for employeeso

This fi~cial report is designed to provide o~ citizens, t~payers, investors, ~d creditors win a general
overview of ~e District’s fin~ces ~d demons~ate the District’s acco~bili~" for Ne money R receives° If
you ~ave questions about Nis repo~ or need additional fin~ciN i~fo~afion, plebe co~tact Bri~ Adesso,
Director of Business Services, Menasha Joim School District, 100 Main Sheet, P.O. Box 340, Men.ha, W1
54952.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2017

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cast~ and investmems
Taxes receivable, net
Accounts receivable
Due from o~er govermrients
Prepaid expense

Total current assets
Capita] assets:

Land, buildings and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

Net capital assets

Total assets

DEFE~ED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Expected vso actual experience o WRS
Expected vso actual irlvestmer~t income o WRS
Char~ges of assmnptions o WRS
Cha~ges in propoKio~al share & difference in actual cont~bmions o WRS
Contributions after measurement date o WRS
Contributions after measurement date o OPEB
Contributions after measurement date - supplemental pension
Deferred chm,’ges o unamortized loss on den refunding

10,656,397
3,248,764

77,204
1,814,682

141,670
15,938,717

76,395,350
21,358,049
55,037,301

70,976,018

Total deferred outflows of resources

468,706
7,330,700
1,285,206

50,401
764,055
902,258
61,500
13,695

10,876,521



LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and related items
Accrued interest payable

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:

Bonds and notes payable
Bond premium
Net pension liability - WRS
Net other post employment benefit liability
Net pension liability - supplemental pension

Total long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Expected vs. actual experience - WRS
Expected vs. actual investment income - WRS
Changes in proportional share & difference in actual contributions - WRS

Total deferred inflows of resources

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

2,497,500
1,5!0,515
3,641,809

288,947
7,938,771

42,020,000
989,333

1,229,229
4,615,817

569,733
49,424,112

57,362,883

3,865,819
1,211,988

5,387

5,083,194

10,782,301
2,359,811
6,264,350

$ 19,406,462

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS. _ ] 3 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Functions/Programs
Instruction

Undifferentiated curriculum
Regular curriculum
Special curriculum
Other instruction

Total instruction
Support services

Pupil services
Instructional staff services
General administration
School building administration
Business administration
Other support services

Total support services
Nonprogram expenses
Food service
Community service
Interest and fiscal charges
Unallocated depreciation

Totals

Expenses

Program Revenues
Operating

Charges for Grants and
Services Contributions

6,720,736
9,054,277
6,200,131
1,876,645

23,851,789

$ 1,354,565 $ 198,747
1,354,564 291,301

79,498 2,574,035
-- 13,441

2,788,627 3,077,524

1,963,519 °° 1,409,229
2,393,437 -- 876,596

537,449 -- 1,300
2,309,429
8,116,026 -- 62,690
1,387,607 -- 18,879

16,707,467 -- 2,368,694
4,113,584 -- 219,397
2,077,256 514,354 1,588,150

871,887 78,023
1,693,567 ....
1,852,111 ....

General revenues:
General state aids
Property taxes levied for:

General purposes
Debt service
Community service

Interest income
Miscellaneous

Total general revenues

Change in net position

Net position, beginning of year, as restated

Net position, end of year

Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Changes in
Net Position

$(5,167,424)
(7,408,412)
(3~546,598)
(1,863,204)
(17,985,638)

554,290)
1,516,841)

536,149)
2,309,429)
8,053,336)
!,368,728)

14,338,773)
3,894,187)

25,248
793,864)

1,693,567)
~,852,111)

40,532,8~

27,735,376

9,799,398
4,532,625

490,000
54,312

143,766
42,755,477

2,222,585

17,183,877

$ 19,406,462

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS. _ 14 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

BALANCE SHEET -
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Taxes receivable, net
Accounts receivable
Due from other governments
Prepaid expense

Total assets

Debt Capital Other Total
General Service Projects Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

8,004,541 $ 1,152,935 $ 1,018,967
3,248,764 ....

69,608 ....
1,804,343 ....

141,670 ....
13,268,926 $ 1,152,935 $ 1,018,967

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,346,143
Accrued salaries and

related items 3,637,871
Total liabilities 4,984,014

$ 479,954 $ 10,656,397
- - 3,248,764

7,596 77,204
10,339 1,814,682

- - 141,670
$ 497,889 $    15,938,717

$ -- $ 132,329     $ 32,043      $ 1,510,515

-- 3,938 3,641,809
132,329 35,981 5,152,324

Fund balances:
Nonspendable 141,670
Spendable:

Restricted - -
Assigned 8,143,242

Total fund balances 8,284,912

Total liabilities and
fund balances

141,670

1,152,935 886,638 320,238 2,359,811
.... 141,670 8,284,912

1,152,935 886,638 461,908 10,786,393

$ 13,268,926     $ 1,152,935     $ 1,018,967      $497,889     $    15,938,717

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STA~MENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS. _ 15 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2017

Total fund balances for governmental funds

Total net position reported for governmental activities in the statement of net
position is different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. The capital assets consisted of:

Land
Land improvements, net of $745,708 accumulated depreciation
Buildings, net of $17,257,303 accumulated depreciation
Machinery and equipment, net of $3,355,038 accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets

Interest payable on long-term debt does not require current financial~
resources. Therefore, interest payable is not reported as a liability in the
governmental funds balance sheet.

Deferred charges - issuance costs are recorded as a deferred outflow of
resources in statement of net position.

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are applicable to future
periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are applicable to future
periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Long-term liabilities applicable to the District’s governmental activities are
not due and payable in the current period and, accordingly, are not reported
as fund liabilities. Interest is not accrued in governmental funds but, rather, is
recognized as expenditure when due. All liabilities, both current and long-
term, are reported in the statement of net position. Balances as of June 30,
2017, are:

Bonds and notes payable, including current portion
Bond premium
Net pension liability - WRS
Net other post employment benefit liability
Net pension liability - supplemental pension

Total net position of governmental activities

1,859,197
2,013,419

49,416,850
1,747,835

(44,517,500)
( 989,333)
(1,229,229)
( 4,615,817)
( 569,733)

$ 10,786,393

55,037,301

( 288,947)

13,695

10,862,826

(5,083,194)

(51,921,612)

$ 19,406,462

TI-rE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Debt Capital Other Total
General Service Projects Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

Revenues:
Local sources $ 10,707,678
Interdistrict sources 1,918,659
Intermediate sources 44,761
State sources 30,966,627
Federa! sources 2,389,446
Other revenue 52,092

Total revenues 46,079,263

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Undifferentiated curriculum
Regular curriculum
Special curriculum
Other instruction

Total instruction
Support services:

Pupil services
Instructional staff services
General administration
School building administration
Business administration
Debt service
Other support services

Tota! support services
Nonprogram expenses
Food service
Community service

Total expenditures
Excess of revenues

(under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):

Operating transfers in
Loan proceeds
Operating transfers (out)

Net other financing
sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, beginning of year
Fund balances, end of year

6,849,251
9,243,605
6,333,104

1,997,818
2,432,722

550,643
2,499,259
8,840,077

1,513,698
17,834,217
4,113,584

46,299,665

220,402)

lO,0Oo)_,

10,00~

230,402)
8.,515,314
8~284~912

4,533,354 $ 19,078 $ 1,100,563 $ 16,360,673
...... 1,918,659
...... 44,761
.... 43,279 31,009,906
.... 1,544,871 3,934,317

69,277 - - 561 121,930
4,602,631 19,078 2,689,274

4,558,105

4,558,105

4,558,105

44,526

3,618,308

3,618,308

3,618,308

3,599,2302

3,000,000

3,000,000

44,526 ( 599,230)
1,108,409 1,485,868

6,105 6,855,356
- - 9,243,605
- - 6,333,104

10,806 ~936,710
24,368,775

1,997,818
2,432,722

550,643
2,499,259

12,458,385
4,558,105
1,513,698

26,010,630
4,113,584

2,081,938 2,081,938
877,238 877,238

2,976,087 57,452,165

286,81~ ~ 4,061,919)

10,000 10,000
- - 3,000,000
-- ~    ~o,ooo~

10,000 3,000,000

( 276,813) ( 1,061,919)
738,721     11,848,312

THE ACCOMPANYrNG NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS. , 17 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Net change in fund balances-governmental funds

The change in net position reported for governmental activities is different because:

$ ( 1,061,919)

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of these assets is capitalized and depreciated over their useful
lives. This is the amount by which capital outlays exceed depreciation in the current
period.

Governmental funds report District pension contributions as expenditures. However,
in the statement of activities, the cost of pension benefits earned net of employee
contributions is reported as pension expense. This is the amount by which pension
expense exceeds the amount contributed based on WRS calculations.

Accrued interest expense on long-term debt is reported in the district-wide statement
of activities and changes in net position, but does not require the use of current
financial resources. Therefore, accrued interest is not reported as an expenditure in
governmental funds.

Other post employment benefits are reported in the governmental funds when
amounts are paid. The statement of activities reports the value of benefits earned
throughout the year. Other post employment benefits earned are less than the amounts
paid.

Governmental fimds report the actual supplemental pension payments made. The
district-wide statement of activities includes supplemental pension payments on an
accrual basis. This is the amount by which the accrual basis is less than the actual
payments in the current year.

Bond issue costs, including loss on refunding, are reported in the governmental fund
as an expenditure. In the statement of activities, these costs are capitalized and
amortized over the life of the bonds.

Bond premiums are reported in the governmental funds as a revenue in the statement
of activities, these transactions are capitalized and amortized over the life of the
bonds.

Loan proceeds are reported as financing sources in governmental funds and, thus,
contribute to the change in fund balance. In the statement of net position, however,
issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the statement of
activities. Similarly, repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental
funds, but reduces the liability in the statement of net position. This is the amount by
which proceeds exceed repayments.

Changes in net position of governmental activities

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS.

2,770,302

(1,680,813)

( 2,587)

2,318,741

11,736

(    14,442)

79,067

( 197,500)
$ 2,222,585
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION -
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

June 30, 2017

ASSETS
Cash mad investments

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Employee benefit plan deposits
Due to student organizations

Total liabilities

NET POSITION
Restricted for OPEB
Restricted for scholarships

Total net position

Private Employee
Agency Purpose Benefit
Funds Trust Fund Trust Fund

$ 240,978 $ 302,170

875

240,978 --
240,978 875

301,295
$      -- ~ 301,29~

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION -
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

ADDITIONS
Employer contributions - OPEB
Employer contributions - supplemental pension
Member contributions - OPEB
Investment income
Gifts

Total additions

DEDUCTIONS
Employee benefit payments - OPEB
Fees

Total deductions

Change in net position

Net position, beginning of year

Net position, end of year

$ 1,784,702

66,946
3,302

70,248

1,714,454

$ 1,714,454

Private Employee
Purpose Benefit

Trust Fund Trust Fund

$ -- $ 902,258
-- 61,500
-- 37,697

1,548 120,193
25 --

1,573 1,121,648

-- 1,052,341
2,775 --
2,775 1,052,341

(    1,202) 69,307

302,497 1,645,147

$ 301,295 $ 1,714,454

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE AN INTEGRAL PART OF THESE STATEMENTS.-19o



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

The financial statements of Menasha Joint School District (District) have been prepared in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to
government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. The significant accounting principles and policies utilized by the District are
described below.

A, Reporting Entity

Menasha Joint School District is a common school district. The District, governed by a seven
member elected school board, operates grades K through 12 and is comprised of all or parts of
three taxing districts. The District receives funding from local, state, and federal government
sources and must comply with the concomitant requirements of these funding source entities.
However, the District is not included in any other governmental "reporting entity" as defined by
the GASB pronouncement since it has decision making authority, the authority to levy taxes, the
power to designate management, the ability to significantly influence operations, and it is
primarily accountable for fiscal matters. In addition, there are no component units, as defined in
GASB Statement 61 that are included in the District’s reporting entity.

B. Fund Accounting

The accounts of the District are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, as
prescribed by the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction for elementary and secondary
school districts, each of which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each
fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets,
liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures as appropriate. District resources are allocated
to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent
and the means by which spending activities are controlled.

The District operates the following major governmental funds:
General Fund - the general fund is the operating fund of the District. It is used to account for
all financial resources of the District except those required to be accounted for in other funds.
Debt Service Fund - the debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of
resources for, and the payment of, general long-term debt principal, interest, and related
costs.

Capital Projects Fund - the capital projects fund is used to account for financial resources to
be used tbr the acquisition or construction of capital facilities (other than those financed by
trust funds).

The District operates the following nonmajor govemrnental funds:
Special Revenue Funds - special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of
specific revenue sources (other than expendable trusts or capital projects) that are legally
restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The District uses special revenue funds to
account for its special revenue trust, food service, and community service funds.

Capital Improvement Fund - the capital improvement fund is used to account for financial
resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of capital facilities. The District may
not expend money deposited into the trust fund for a period of five years.

- 20 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued:

Fiduciary Funds - fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the District in a
trustee capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments,
and/or other funds. These include private-purpose trust, employee benefit, and agency funds.
Donations for scholarships and other bequests are accounted for in private-purpose trust
funds. Private-purpose trust funds are accounted for in essentially the same manner as
proprietary funds. Employee benefit trust funds are set up to put aside monies for future post
retirement benefits. They are irrevocable and can only be dissolved after all the trust assets
have been used for their intended purpose. Activities of student organizations are accounted
for in an agency fund. Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do
not involve measurement of results of operations.

C. Basis of Presentation

District-wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the
District as a whole. These statements include the financial activitieS of the primary government,
except for fiduciary funds. These statements distinguish between governmental and business-
type activities of the District. The District did not have any business-type activities in place at
June 30, 2017.
The district-wide statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. This
is the same approach used in the preparation of proprietary fund financial statements, but differs
from the manner in which governmental fund financial statements are prepared. Governmental
fund financial statements, therefore, include a reconciliation between the district-wide statements
and the governmental fund statements.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental activities of
the District at year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between the direct
expenses and program revenues for each function or program of the governmental activities.
Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department
and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include
amounts paid by the recipient of goods or services offered by the program and grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program. All taxes and revenues not classified as program revenues are presented as general
revenues of the District.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements report detailed information about the District. Their focus is on major
funds rather than reported funds by type. Each major governmental fund is presented in a single
column, and all nonmajor funds are aggregated into one column. Fiduciary funds are reported by
fund type.

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its
measurement focus. All governmental fimds are accounted for using a flow of current financial
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current
liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds
present increases (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (i.e., expenditures
and other financing uses) in net current assets.



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued:

D. Basis of Accounfing

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and
reported in the financial statements. District-wide financial statements are prepared using the
accrual basis of accounting. The fund financial statements are prepared using the modified
accrual basis of accounting.

Revenues - Exchange and Nonexchange Transactions

Revenues resulting from exchange transactions are recorded on the accrual basis when the
exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis, revenues are recognized in the accounting
period when they become both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal year.
The available period for the District is sixty days after year-end.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the District receives value .without directly giving equal
value in retdrn, include property taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations. On an accrual basis,
revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements
have be~n met. On the modified accrual basis, revenue from nonexchange transactions must also
be available before it can be recognized.

In applying the susceptible to accrual concept under the modified accrual basis, the following
revenue sources are deemed both measurable and available: property taxes, investment earnings,
tuition, grants, and student fees.
Expenditures

Under the accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are recorded at the time they are incurred.
The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial
resources (expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the
accounting period in which the related liability is incuxred, if measurable. Allocations of cost,
such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds.

E. Budgetary Accounting

Operating budgets are adopted each fiscal year for all governmental funds in accordance with
Section 65.90 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The legally adopted budget and budgetary expenditure
control is exercised at the object level in the general fund and at the total expenditures level for
all other funds. Reported budget amounts are as originally adopted or as amended by the Board
of Education (Board) resolution.

Cash and Investments

The District’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-
term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. All
funds share common (pooled) checking and investment accounts, unless regulations require
separate investment accounts.

All investments are stated at fair value. Determination of fair value for investment in the State
Treasurer’s investment pool is based on information provided by the State of Wisconsin
Investment Board. Determination of fair value for investment held for the employment benefit
trust fund is based on information provided by BMO Financial Group.

- 22 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

°Note

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued:

G. Property Taxes

The aggregate District tax levy is apportioned and certified by November 6 of the current fiscal
year for collection to comprising municipalities based on the immediate past October 1 full or
"equalized" taxable property values. As permitted by a collecting municipality’s ordinance, taxes
may be paid in full or two or more installments with the first installment payable the subsequent
January 31, and the final payment no later than the following July 31. On or before January 15,
and by the 20th of each subsequent month thereafter, the District is paid by the collecting
municipalities its proportionate share of tax collections received through the last day of the
preceding month. On or before August 20, the County Treasurer makes full settlement to the
District for any remaining balance. The County assumes all responsibility for delinquent real
property taxes.
Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the period that the taxes are levied as if they are due
in the current year and available to pay current liabilities. The 2016 tax levy is used to rinance
operations of the District’s fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. All property taxes are ~donsidered due
on January 1, 2017, when an enforceable lien is assessed against the property and the taxpayer is
liable for the taxes. All taxes are collected within 60 days of June 30 and are available to pay
current liabilities.

H. Receivables

Receivables at June 30, 2017, consisted of taxes, accounts, interest, mad governmental grants and
entitlements. All receivables are considered collectible in full due to the ability to foreclose for
the nonpayment of taxes and the stable condition of federal and state programs.
L Inventories and Prepaid Items

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. The costs of
governmental fund-type inventories are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than
when purchased.

J. Accumulated Unpaid Vacation, Sick Pay, and Other Employee Benefit Amounts

The District’s policy allows employees to earn varying amounts of sick pay for each year
employed, accumulating to a maximum vested amount of 144 days. The District’s policy does
not allow accumulated employee vacation to vest. Upon retirement, employees are entitled to
continue receiving District funded health and, for teachers, dental insurance. Custodial,
maintenance, food service and secretarial employees receive one month of health insurance for
every six days of unused sick leave. Teachers receive health and dental insurance until age 65 or
until they become eligible for Medicare, whichever comes first. Termination of employment
other than retirement results in the toss of accumulated sick leave benefits.

Benefits that require payment in future fiscal years though related to currently received services
are recorded as expenditure in the period or periods in which they are paid or are normally
payable rather than the period in which they are incurred. The value of vested benefits payable in
future risen periods are recorded in the district-wide statements.

Capital Assets and Depreciation

General capital assets are reported in the district-wide statement of net position but not in the
fund financial statements.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
NIENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued:

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions
and retirement during the year. Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair value as of the date
received. The District follows the policy of not capitalizing assets with a cost of less than $1,000
and a useful life of less than five years, unless their exclusion as a group would make the
financial statements materially misleading. The District does not possess any infrastructure. All
reported capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated. Improvements are depreciated
over the remaining useful lives of the related capital asset. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Land
Buildings
Land improvements
Machinery and equipment

Not depreciated
20-50 years

20 years
5-20 years

L. Interfnnd Activity

Short-term interfund loans are classified as interfund receivables/payables in the fired financial
statements. These mounts are eliminated in the statement of net position.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Debt

All accrued liabilities and long-term debt are reported in the district-wide financial statements.
For governmental fund financial statements, accrued liabilities are generally reported as a
goven~-nental fund liability if due for payment as of the balance sheet date regardless of whether
they will be liquidated with current financial resources. However, claims and judgements and
compensated absences paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the fund
financial statements only for the portion expected to be financed from expendable available
financial resoureeso Long-term debt paid from governmental funds is not recognized as a liability
in the ftmd financial statements until due.

N. Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources

The District implemented GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of
Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position and GASB Statement No. 65, Items
Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities. In addition to assets, the statement of net position
will report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement
element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to
a future period(s) and, therefore, will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then. The District has items in this category relating to its share of
the WRS pension plan, supplemental pension plan, other post employment benefit plan, and the
deferred charges - issuance costs resulting from the difference in the carrying value of refunded
debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life
of the refunded or refunding debt.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not
be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The District has items in this
category relating to its share of the WRS pension plan.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued:

O. Pensions
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and the District’s
supplemental pension plan and additions to!deductions from pension plans’ fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported to the District. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
P. Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan
For purposes of measuring the net other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability and OPEB
expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the District’s OPEB plan and additions
to/deductions from the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same
basis as they are reported to the District. For this purpose, the District recognizes benefit
payments when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported
at fair value.
Q. Accounting Changes
The District adopted GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions, GASB Statement No. 74 Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other
Than Pension Plans and GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions during the year ended June 30, 2017. These
statements address the presentation of payroll-related measures in the Required Supplementary
Information, the selection of assumptions used in determining the total OPEB and supplemental
pension liability and related measures, and the classification of employer-paid member
contributions. These statements add separate financial statements element relating to the
District’s OPEB and supplemental pension plans including, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources.

R. Fund Balances

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report aggregate amounts for the
classifications of fund balances on the constraints imposed on the use of these resources. The
nonspendable fund balance classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are
either (a) not in spendable form - prepaid items or inventories or (b) legally or contractually
required to be maintained intact.
The spendable portion of the fund balance comprises the remaining four classifications:
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned.

Restricted fund balance - this classification reflects the constraints imposed on resources
either (a) externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions of enabling legislation.

Committed fund balance - these amounts can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to
constraints imposed by formal resolutions of the Board of Education - the District’s highest
level of decision making authority-. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other
purpose unless the Board removes the specified use by taking the same type of action
imposing the commitment. This classification also includes contractual obligations to the
extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use in
satisfying those contractual requirements. The District did not have any committed fund
balance at June 30, 2017.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note 1.

Note

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Continued:

Assigned fund balance - this classification reflects the amounts constrained by the District’s
"intent" to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. The Board
and the Director of Business Services have the authority to assign amounts to be used for
specific purposes. Assigned fund balances include all remaining amounts in governmental
funds that are not classified as nonspendable and are neither restricted nor committed.

Unassigned fund balance - this fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund.
It is also used to report negative fund balances in other governmental funds. The District did
not have may unassigned fund balance at June 30, 2017.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the District’s policy to
use externally restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources - committed, assigned, and
unassigned - in order as needed.

The Board has set a general fund minimum fund balance target of at least 20% of expenditures
and.recurring transfers of both the general and special education funds or a balance sufficient to
avoid cash flow borrowing, whichever is greater. The special education fund does not meet the
definition of a special revenue fund as defined in GASB pronouncements and the activity in this
fund is consolidated with the general fund in the fund financial statements.

S. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Investments:

The debt service fund and capital projects fund account for their transactions through separate
and distinct bank and investment accounts as required by state statutes. In addition, the trust and
agency funds use separate mid distinct accounts. All other funds share in common bank and
investment accounts.

The District is required to invest its funds in accordance with Wisconsin Statute 66.0603 (1M).
The Board has adopted an investment policy pursuant to these statutes that allows the District to
invest in the following:

Time deposits
Securities guaranteed by the U.S. Government
Securities of Wisconsin Municipal Units
Securities of Wisconsin Educational and Local Govermnent Investment Pool
Bonds issued by a local exposition district
Bonds issued by a local professional baseball park district
Bonds issued by a local professional stadium district
Bonds issued by the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority
Bonds issued by a local cultural arts district
Bonds issued by the Wisconsin Aerospace Authority
Securities which mature or may be tendered for purchase at the option of the holder within

not more than 7 years of the date on which it is acquired and received the highest or
second highest rating category assigned by Standard & Poor’s Corporation, Moody’s
Investors Service, or other similar nationally recognized rating agency            - 26 -
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Note Cash and Investments - Continued:

Securities of an open-ended management investment company or investment trust, if the
investment company does not charge a sales load, is registered under the investment
company act of 1940, and the portfolio is limited to bonds and securities issued by the
federal government, bonds that are guaranteed by the federal government, or repurchase
securities that are fully collateralized by bonds or securities

Under the 2005 Wisconsin Act 99, school districts are allowed to invest funds held in trust to
provide for post employment health care benefits and other post employment benefits provided
separately from a defined benefit pension plan in the same manner as authorized for investments
under Wisconsin Statute 881.01 ~"Uniform Prudent Investor Act".

Under Wisconsin Statute 881.01, a trustee who invests and manages assets of the trust must
comply with the prudent investor rule set forth in the statute. This rule requires the trustee of an
employee benefit trust fund to exercise reasonable care, skill and caution when investing and
managing the assets of the trust.

The carrying amount of the District’s cash and investments totaled $12,984,247 on June 30,
2017, as summarized below:

Petty cash funds
Deposits with financial institutions
Investments

Wisconsin investment series cooperative
BMO Financial Group
State Treasurer’s investment pool

Total

Reconciliation to the basic financial statements:

$ 525
1,035,378

9,600,668
1,784,636

563,040
$ 12,984,247

Statement of net position
Fiduciary funds

Employee benefit trust
Student scholarship
Agency funds

Total

$ 10,656,397

1,784,702
302,170
240,978

$ 12,984,247

Deposits and investments of the District are subject to various risks. Presented below is a
discussion of specific risks and the District’s policy related to each risk.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial Credit
risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counter-party (e.g., broker-
dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or
collateral securities that are in the possession of another party.
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Note Cash and Investments - Continued:

Deposits in banks are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) in the
amount of $250,000 per official custodian. In addition, the State of Wisconsin has a State
Guarantee Fund that provides a maximum of $400,000 per entity above the amount provided by
the FDIC. However, due to the relatively small size of the Guarantee Fund in relation to the total
coverage, total recovery of losses may not be available.

As of June 30, 2017, the carrying amount of the District’s bank deposits was $1,035,378 and the
bank balance was $1,487,439. Of the bank balances, $461,547 was covered by FDIC insurance
and the remaining $1,025,892 was collateralized by US Bank, thru Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation.
The District’s investments for the employee benefit trust are held in an irrevocable trust and are
registered in the name of the corporate trustee for the benefit of the District. The District’s
investments are not exposed to custodial credit risk because the assets are held in the irrevocable
trust and cannot be assigned to the obligations of the custodian in the case of be custodian
becoming insolvent.

The investment in the State Treasurer’s investment pool is insured against deIhults in principal
payments by Financial Security Assurance Incorporated.

Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an isguer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the
holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally
recognized statistical rating organization. For investments (other than invested under Wisconsin
State Statute 881.01), Wisconsin statutes limit investments in securities to the two ratings
assigned by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations.

The District does not have a formal policy to address credit risk, but the risk is mitigated by the
fact that the District is not invested in any individual securities and is invested in index funds,
which allow for a more diversified portfolio. The District’s bond mutual fua-lds are rated B to AA
by Standard & Poor’s. The District’s money market funds are not rated.

Following is the distribution of the District’s investments by each investment type:

Fair
Investment Type Cost Value

WISC Investment Series - money market account
State Treasurer’s investment pool
BMO Financial Group

Money market funds
Bond mutual funds
Equity mutual funds

Totals

$ 9,600,668 $ 9,600,668
563,040 563,040

17,689 17,689
816,064 812,248
865,789 954,699

$ 11,863,250 $      !1,948,344
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Cash and Investments - Continued:

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the
sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The District does not have a formal
investment policy to address interest rate risk, but the risk is mitigated by the fact that the District
is not invested in any individual bond security and is invested in bond index funds, which allow
for a more diversified portfolio.

Changes in Capital Assets:

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Reductions Balance

Governmental
activities:
Land
Land improvements
Buildings
Machinery and

equipment

Totals

Accumulated
depreciation:
Land improvements
Buildings
Machinery and

equipment

Totals

1,859,197 $ -- $ -- $ 1,859,197
1,099,146 1,659,981 - - 2,759,127

64,440,739 2,233,414 - - 66,674,153

4,470,599 729,018 96,744 5,102,873
71,869,681 4,622,413 96,744 76,395,350

682,571 63,137 - - 745,708
15,952,998 1,304,305 - ° 17,257,303

2,967,113 466,957 79,032 3,355,038

9,602,682 1,834,399 79,032 21,358,049

$ 17,712 $55,037,301Net totals $ 52,266,999 $ 2,788,014

All depreciation expense was charged to unallocated depreciation.

Interfund Transactions:

Interfund transfers on the fund financial statements at June 30, 2017, consisted of the following:

Transfer from the General Fund to the Capital Improvement Fund $ 10,000

The interfund transfer between the general fund and the capital improvement fund was made to
increase the balance in the capital improvement fund.
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Note Long-term Obligations:

Long-term obligations of the District are as follows:

Type

General obligation
debt

Bond premium
Net pension liability

- WRS
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability

- supplemental
pension

Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Potion

$44,320,000    $ 3,000,000 $2,802,500      $44,517,500 $2,497,500

1,068,400 -- 79,067 989,333 --

2,437,790 -- 1,208,561 1,229,229

6,032,300 519,838 1,936,321 4,615,817

Totals

519,969 68,678 18,914 569,733 --

$54,378,459 $ 3,588,516 $ 6,045,363 $51,921,612 $2,497,500

Total interest paid for the year ended June 30, 2017, was $1,755,605 on long-term debt.

All general obligation debt is secured by the full faith and credit and unlimited taxing powers of
the District. General obligation debt at June 30, 2017, is comprised of the following issues:

Issue Interest Date of
Description Date Rate Mat~_i~ ..... Balances

General obligation
bonds 8/23/16 3.00% 3/15/26 $ 2,975,000

General obligation
bonds 3/1/12 4.375% 3/1/21 680,000

General obligation
bonds 12/15 / 14 1.0-2.0% 3 / 1/21 4,495,000

General obligation
bonds 12/21/09 1.15-5.0% 3/1/19 545,000

General obligation
bonds 9/3/13 2.0-5.0% 3/1/33 27,390,000

General obligation
bonds 11/25/14 2.0-3.0% 3/1/29 6,170,000

Taxable general
obligation bond -
QZAB 3/17/14 0.0% 3/1/24 2,000,000

State trust fund
loan - QSCB 9/15/10 4.25% 3/15/20 262,500

Total general obligation debt $ 44,517,50
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Long-term Obligations - Continued:

The Qualified School Construction Bond (QSCB) provides for a 100% federal subsidy on the
total interest requirements. Since the District is not required to pay any interest during the term
of the loan, the interest requirements for this bond are not shown in the accompanying schedule
of maturities.

The Qualified Zone Academy Bond (QZAB) provides for a 100% federal subsidy on the total
interest requirements. Since the District is not required to pay any interest during the term of the
loan, the interest requirements for this bond are not shown in the accompanying schedule of
maturities.

The 2016 equalized valuation of the District as certified by the Wisconsin Department of
Revenue is $1,308,886,244. The legal debt limit and margin of indebtedness as of June 30, 2017,
in accordance with Section 67.03(1)(b) of the Wisconsin Statutes is as follows:

Debt limit (10% of $1,308,886,244)
Deduct long-term debt applicable to debt margin

$ 130,888,624
44,517,500

Margin of indebtedness $ 86,371,124

Aggregate cash flow requirements for the retirement of general obligation debt principal and
interest on June 30, 2017, are as follows:

Year ending
June 30, Princip9_l. ............ Interest Totals

2018 $ 2,497,500 $ 1,672,193 $ 4,169,693
2019 2,562,500 1,623,368 4,185,868
2020 2,382,500 1,566,548 3,949,048
2021 1,940,000 1,5t5,468 3,455,468
2022 2,845,000 1,450,685 4,295,685

2023-2027 15,095,000 5,828,135 20,923,135
2028-2032 14,195,000 2,708,900 16,903,900

2033 3,000,000 139,500 3,139,500

Totals $ 44,517,500 $     16,504,797 $ 61,022,297



Note 6.

Note 7.

MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Fund Balance Reporting:

The following table discloses details of the amounts reported
categories as of June 30, 2017:

Debt Capital
General Service Projects

Description Fund Fund Fund

in the various fund balance

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
Prepaid expense 141,670 $ -- $ -- $ -- $ 141,670

Restricted:
Debt service fund - - I, 152,935 .... 1,152,935
Capital projects fund .... 886,638 - - 886,638
Food service fund ...... 305,149 305,!49
Capital improvement

fund ...... 15,089 15,089

Assigned:
Employee contracts

for salaries 8,143,242 ...... 8,143,242
Special

revenue trust fund ...... 37,375 37,375
Cow.unity service

fund ...... 104,295 104,295

Total fund balances $ 8,284,912 $ 1,152,935 $ 886,638 $ 461,908$ 10,786,393

Excess of Actual Expenditures Over Budget:

The following funds had an excess of actual expenditures over budget for the year ended June
30, 2017:

General Fund:
Regular curriculum
Other instruction
General administration
Business administration
Nonprogram expenses

Special Education Fund:
Other instruction
Pupil services
Nonprogram expenses

$ 410,387
196,141
140,172

1,784,383
260,713

1,108
9,353

14,383
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Note Genera| Information About the WRS Pension Plan:

Plan Description

The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS benefits and
other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms may
only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State
of Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed
by a participating WRS employer on or after July 1,2011, artd expected to work at least t,200
hours a year (880 hours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and
expected to be employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to
participate in the WRS.

ETF issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which can be found
at http://etf.wi,    ubliq_ation~/cafr.~t~

Vesting

For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for
eligibility for a retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24,
1998, and prior to July 1,2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS
eligible on or after July 1,2011, must have five years of creditable service to be vested.

Benefits Provided

Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62 for elected
officials and State executive participants) are entitled to receive an unreduced retirement benefit.
The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average earnings, (2) years of creditable service,
and (3) a formula factor.

Final average earnings is the average of the participant’s three highest years’ earnings. Creditable
service is the creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of
partial years for which a participant receives earnings and makes contributions as required. The
formula factor is a standard percentage based on employment category.

Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced
benefits. Employees terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement
benefit may withdraw their contributions and forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits.

The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.
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Note Genera! Information About the WRS Pension P|an - Continued:

Post-Retirement Adjustments

The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity payments from the retirement
system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s. 40.27, Wis. Star. An
increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains (losses), together
with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as determined
by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted
increases. By law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed
amount (the "floor") set at retirement.
The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:

Year

Core Fund Variable Fund
~_.~o ~justment

2007 3.0 % 10 %
2008 6.6 0
2009 (2.1) (42)
2010 (1.3) 22
2011 (1.2) 11
2012 (7.0) (7)
2013 (9.6) 9
2014 4.7 25
2015 2.9 2
2016 0.5 (5)

Contributions

Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with
Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the
actuarially determined contribution rate for general category employees, incbading teachers, and
Executives and Elected Officials. Starting on January 1, 2016, the Executives and Elected
Officials category was merged into the General Employee Category. Required contributions for
protective employees are the same rate as general employees. Employers are required to
contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not
pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an existing collective bargaining
agreement.
During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $1,426,781 in contributions from the
employer.

Contribution rates as of June 30, 2017 are:

Employee C
EmE~R~e- e .........................

er

General (including teachers,
executives & elected officials)

Protective with Social Security
Protective without Social Security

6.6% 6.6%
6.6% <9.4%
6.6% 13.2%
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General Information About the WRS Pension Plan - Continued:

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

At June 30, 2017, the District reported a liability of $1,229,229 for its proportionate share of the
net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the
total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability- was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of December 31,2015, rolled forward to December 31,2016. No material changes
in assumptions or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the
measurement date. The District’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the
District’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all
participating employers. At December 31, 2016, the District’s proportion was 0.14913506%,
which was a decrease of 0.00088458% from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2015.

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the District recognized pension expense of $3,175,048.

At June 30, 2017, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Net differences between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between

employer contributions and proportionate share of
contributions

Employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date

Totals

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

$ 468,706 $ 3,865,819

1,285,206 - -

7,330,700 1,211,988

50,401 5,387

764,055 - -
9,899,068 $ 5,083,194

$764,055 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the District’s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2017.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Deferred Deferred
Year ending Outflows of Inflows of

June 30, Resources Resources
2017 $ 3,181,591 $ 1,539,473
2018 3,181,591 1,539,473
2019 2,663,605 1,538,087
2020 105,799 466,161

Thereafter 2,427 - -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

General Information About the WRS Pension Plan - Continued:

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016, actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Actuaria! valuation date
Measurement date of net pension liability
Actuarial cost method
Asset valuation method
Long-term expected rate of return
Discount rate
Salary increases:

Inflation
Senibfity/Merit

Mortality
Post-retirement adjustments*

December 31, 2015
December 31,2016

Entry age
Fair market value

7.2%
7.2%

3.2%
0.2% - 5.6%

Wisconsin 2012 Mortality Table
2.1%

* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized
investment return, actuarial experience and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adjustment
based on the investment return assumption and the post-retirement discount rate.

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2015 using experience
from 2012 - 2014. The total pension liability for December 31, 2016, is based upon a roll-
forward of the liability calculated from the December 31, 2015, actuarial valuation.

Long-term Expected Return on Plan Assets

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-b!ock method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of
return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
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Note General Information About the WRS Pension Plan - Continued:

Retirement Funds
Asset Allocation Targets
and Expected Returns

Core Fund Asset Class

Asset Allocation % Rate of Return %
Destination Long-Term Long-Term

Current Expected Nominal ~N)_e_ct~d Real

Global equities                  50 45 8.3 5.4
Fixed income 24.5 37 4.2 1.4
Inflation sensitive assets 15.5 20 4.3 1.5
Real estate 8 7 6.5 3.6
Private equity/debt 8 7 9.4 6.5
Multi-asset 4 4 6.6 3.7
Total Core Fund 110 120 7.4 4.5

Variable Fund Asset Class
U.S. equities
International equities
Total Variable Fund

71) 70 7.6 4.7
30 30 8.5 5.6
100 100 7.9 5.0

New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.75%

Asset allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ from
actual monthly allocations.

Single Discount Rate

A single discount rate of 7.2% was used to measure the total pension liability. This single
discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.2% and a
long term bond rate of 3.78%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.2% expected rate
of return implies that a dividend of approximately 2.1% will always be paid. For purposes of the
single discount rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of
cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions
will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at
rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member
rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments (including expected dividends) of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

General Information About the WRS Pension Plan - Continued:

Sensitivity of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to
Changes in the Discount Rate

The follovfing presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
calculated using the discount rate of 7.2%, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of
the net pension liability. (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower (6.2%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.2%) than the current rate:

District’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset)

1% Decrease to Current 1% Increase to
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

.(6.2%) (8.2%)_

$ 16,171,29 $ 1,229,229 $ (10,276,839)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position                                           .- ~

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in separately
issued financial statements available at htt~://etgwi.~blicat_jons/cafr.htm

General information About the OPEB Plan:

Plan Description and Benefits Provided

The District’s post-employment medical plan is a single-employer, defined benefit healthcare
plan administered by the District. The plan provides medical, dental, and life insurance benefits
to eligible retirees and their spouses. The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions is
with the Board of Education. There is no financial report issued by the plan.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

The following employees were covered by the benefit terms as of the June 30, 2016 actuarial
valuation:

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving
benefit payments

Inactive plan members entitled to but not receiving
benefits

Active plan members

Totals

Contributions

54

350

404

The contribution requirements of the District are established and may be amended by the Board.
The Board establishes rates based on an actuarially determined rate. For the year ended June 30,
2016, the District’s average contribution rate was 0% of covered-employee payroll. Employees
are not required to contribute to the plan.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

General Information About the OPEB Plan - Continued:

Net OPEB Liability

The District’s net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total OPEB liability
used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30,
2016.

Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless
otherwise specified:

Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Healthcare cost trend rates

3.0 %
3.0 %
5.5 %, net of OPEB plan investment expenses
Medical: Initial rate of 7.5%, decreasing by 0.5%

per year down to 6.5%, then by 0.1% per year
down to 5.0%, and level thereafter

Dental: Level at 5.0%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for Males or
Females, as appropriate, with adjustments for mortality improvements based on Scale AA.

Investment Policy

Funds for the OPEB plan, "Employee Benefit Trust", adheres to Wisconsin Statute 881.01
’°Uniform Prudent Investor Act" which requires reasonable care, skill, and caution in the
investment and managing of trust assets. The Employee Benefit Trust is managed by BMO
Financial Group.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.5%. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at
the current contribution rate and that District contributions will be made at rates equal to the
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the employee rate. Based on
those assumptions, the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on the OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total OPEB liability.
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Note 9.

MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

General Information About the OPEB Plan - Continued:

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability

Balances at 6/30/2015
Changes for the year:

Service cost
Interest

.....Contributions - employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Administrative expense

Net changes

Balances at 6/30/2016

Increase (Decrease)
Plan

Total OPEB Fiduciary
Liability Net Position

~) (b)

6,966,189 $ 933,889

160,515 - -
354,011 - -

...... 1,924,671
11,650

(t,219,751) (1,219,751)

( 705,225)°... 711,258

$ 6,260,964 $ 1,645,147

Net OPEB
Liability

$ 6,032,300

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

160,515
354,011

( 1,924,671)
(11,650)

5,312

( 1,416,483)_

$ 4,615,81

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s net
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1%-point lower (4.5%)
or l%-point higher (6.5%) than the discount rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(4.5%) (5.5~ ..(6.5%)

Net OPEB liability $ 4,934,72 $ 4,615,817 $ 4,310,142

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s net
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1%-point
lower or l%-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:

Net OPEB liability

Healthcare
Cost Trend

1% Decrease Rates 1% Increase

$    4,418,294 $ 4,615,817 $    4,836,08
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Note 9.

Note 10o

MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

General Information About the OPEB Plan - Continued:

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the District recognized OPEB expense of $(2,318,741). At
June 30, 2017, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Differences between expected and actual
experience

Changes and assumptions
Net difference between projected

and actual ’
earnings on OPEB plan investments

District contributions subsequent to the
measurement date

Totals

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
Of Resources

902,258 - -

$ 902,25

General Information About the Supplemental Pension Plan:

Plan Description and Benefits Provided
The District provides a supplemental pension benefit to eligible retirees in the form of a cash
stipend. The supplemental pension plan is a single-employer defined benefit plan administered
by the District. The benefits paid to eligible retirees are accounted for under GASB Statement
No. 68. The plan is administered by the District and does not issue a stand alone report.

The supplemental pension benefits are calculated as follows:

Eligible teachers, maintenance staff or secretaries will receive a one-time contribution into a
Medical Trust or a 401(a) based upon a flat dollar amount per year of service in the District
upon retirement. Additionally, on behalf of any eligible active employee that does meet the
required years of service as of August 31, 2013, and is currently not participating in the group
medical plan, the District offers a cash payment in lieu of their participation in the retirement
benefit. The total amount of this cash stipend in lieu of the retirement benefit will be paid out
in two equal annual payments.

The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing requirements.
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms

The following employees were covered by the benefit terms as of the June 30, 2016 actuarial
valuation:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits
Active employees

Total employees

3

77

80
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note General Information About the Supplemental Pension Plan - Continued:

Cont~bufions
The District is required to provide contributions on a pay-as-you-go basis.

Net Pension Liability

The District’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actua6al valuation as of
June 30, 2016.

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

3.0 percent
3.0 percent, average, including inflation~
3.0 percent, net of pension plan investment

expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for Males or
Females, as appropriate, with adjustments for mortality improvements based on Scale AA.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016, valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period July 1,2015 - June 30, 2016.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was calculated by the actuary.

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 4.0%. The projection of cash
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at
the current contribution rate and that District contributions will be made at rates equal to the
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the employee rate. Based on
those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore,
the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Note

MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

General Information About the Supp|ementa| Pension Plan - Continued:

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Balances at 6/30/15
Changes for the year:

Service cost
Interest
Contributions - employer
Benefits payments
Net investment income

Net changes

Balances at 6130/16

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary

Liability Net Position
(a) (b)

$ 519,969 $ - -

Net Pension
Liability

(a)- (b)
$ 519,969

52,574 - -
16,104 - -

- - 18,914
( 18,914) ( 18,914)

49,764               - -

$ 569,733

52,574
16,104

( 18,914)

49,764

$ 569,733

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the District, calculated using the discount rate
of 3.0%, as well as what the District’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.0%) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.0%) than
the current rate:

District’s net pension liability

1% Decrease to Current 1% Increase to
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

(2.0%)       (3.0%)       (4.0%)

$ 608,738 $ 569,733 $ 532,033

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Pensions

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the District recognized pension expense of $(11,736). At June
30, 2017, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions fi’om the following sources:

Net difference between expected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments

Differences between expected and actual
experience

District contributions subject to the measurement
date

Totals

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

-- $

61,500

$          61,500 $             --
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note

Note 12.

Note 13.

Note 14.

Self-funded Dental Insurance Program:

The Dis~ct has established a self-funded dental benefit plan for its employees. The plan
administrator, Delta Dental, is responsible for the approval, processing, and payment of claims,
after which they bill the District for reimbursement. The District is also responsible for a
monthly administrative fee. The plan reports on a fiscal year ending June 30.

Accounting and budgeting requirements for the plan ave established by the Wisconsin
Department of Public Instruction. Currently, the plan is accounted for in the general fund of the
District.

At June 30, 2017, the District reported a liability of $33,636, which represents reported and
unreported claims that were incurred on or before June 30, 2017, but were not paid by the
District as of that date. This amount consists of claims of $15,136 reported to the District by the
plan administrator, claims of $18,500 reported to the plan administrator but not the District, and
claims of $0, which were not yet reported to either the plan administrator or the District. The
amounts not reported to the District were determined by the plan administrator.

Limitation on School District Revenues:

Wisconsin Statmes limit the amount of revenues that school districts may derive from general
school aids and property taxes unless a higher amount is approved by a referendum. This
limitation does not apply to revenues needed for the payment of any general obligation debt
service (including refinanced debt) authorized by either of the following:

A resolution of the school board or by a referendum prior to August 12, 1993
A referendum on or after August 12, 1993

Contingent Liabilities:

Risk management - the District is exposed to various risks of loss, including torts; theft of,
damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural
disasters. The District purchases commercial insurance coverage for most of these risks. There
were no significant reductions in purchased coverage for the year ended June 30, 2017. No
settlements exceeded insured amounts in the last three fiscal years.
Litigation - from time to time, the District is party to various pending claims and legal
proceedings. Although the outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the
opinion of management and counsel that the likelihood is remote, due in part to insurance
coverage, that any other such claims or proceedings will have a material effect on the District’s
financial position.

Fair Value Measurement:

The District’s investments measured and reported at fair value are classified according to the
following hierarchy:

Level 1 - Investments reflect prices quoted in active markets
Level 2 - Investments reflect prices that are based on a similar observable asset either directly

or indirectly, which may include inputs in markets that are not considered active
Level 3 - Investments reflect prices based upon unobservable sources

The categorization of investments w~th the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of
the instrument and should not be perceived as the particular investment’s risk.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

Note 14.

Note |5°

Note 16.

Fair Value Measurement - Conth~ued:

The fair values of the District’s investments were classified as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Totals

Money market funds $ 17,689 $ - - $ - - $ 17,689
Bond mutual funds 812,248 .... 812,248
Equity mutual funds 954,699 .... 954,699
WISC - - 9,600,668 - - 9,600,668
LGIP - - 563,040 - - 563,040

Totals $ 1,784,636 $ 10,163,708 $ --    $11,948,344

Investments classified in the Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using prices provided
by BMO Financial Group for the District’s employee benefit trust.

Investments classified in the Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy represents the District’s share of
the Local Government Investment Pool as provided by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board
and the Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative.

Prior Period Adjustment:

The effect of the District making a prior period adjustment due to the implementation of GASB
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, GASB Statement No. 74,
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, and GASB
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting Jbr Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions resulted in the restatement of the District’s net position as of June 30, 2016, as follows:

Total net position as previously reported in the
statement of activities

Net other post employment benefit liability

Net pension liability - supplemental pension

Total net position at end of year

$ 25,363,038
(8,050,193)
( 128,968)

$ 17,183,877

Subsequent Events:

The District has evaluated all subsequent events through January 24, 2018, the date on which the
financial statements were available to be issued.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA~ WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
Other Post Employment Benefits Plan

Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Total OPEB liability
Service cost
Interest
Changes in benefit terms
Changes of assumptions or other input
Differences between expected and actual experience
Benefit payments

Net change in total OPEB liability

2017

160,515
354,011

(1,219,751)
(705,225)

Total OPEB liability o beginning
Total OPEB liability - ending

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer
Contributions - employee
Net investment income
Changes of benefit terms
Benefit payments
Administrative expense

Net change in plan fiduciary net position

6,966,189
$ 6,260,964

$ 1,924,671

11,650

(1,219,751)
( 5,312)

711,258

Total fiduciary net position - beginning
Total fiduciary net position - ending

Net OPEB liability - ending

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability

The District’s covered employee payroll

933,889
$ 1,645,147

$ 4,615,817

26.28%

$ 6,101,467

Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 75.65%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year-end.

2017 is the first year that this information has been made available due to implementation of
GASB 74 and 75.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN SCHEDULES.
- 46 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT’S CONTRIBUTIONS
Other Post Employment Benefits Plan

Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Actuarially determined contributions

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contributions

Contribution deficiency (excess)

District’s covered employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll

2017
$ 1,465,531

( 1,924,671)

$ ( 459,140)

$ 6,101,467

31.54%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year-end.

2017 is the first year that this information has been made available due to implementation of
GASB 74 and 75.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN SCHEDULES.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO REQUIRED OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PLAN SCHEDULES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1.

Note

Changes of Benefit Terms:

There were no changes of benefit terms for this benefit°

Changes of Assumptions:

There were no changes in the assumptions.



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
Supplemental Pension Plan

Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Total pension liability:
Service cost
Interest
Changes of assumptions or other input
Differences between expected and actual experience
Benefit payments

Net change in total pension liability

Total pension liability - beginning
Total pension liability - ending

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer
Contributions - employee
Net investment income
Benefit payments

Net change in plan fiduciary net position

Total fiduciary net position - beginning
Total fiduciary net position - ending

Net pension liability - ending

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

The District’s covered employee payroll

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered
employee payroll

2017

$ 52,574
16,104

( 18,914)
49,764

519,969
$ 569,733

$ 18,914

( 18,914)

$    569,733

0.00%

3,936,491

14.47%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year-end.

2017 was the first year that this information has been made available due to implementation of GASB 68.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL PENSION PLAN SCHEDULES.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT’S CONTRIBUTIONS
Supplemental Pension Plan

Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Actuafially deteimined contributions

Contributions in relation to the actuaria~ly
determined contributions

Contribution deficiency (excess)

District’s covered employee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covered
employee payroll

2017
$ 100,127

( 18,914)

$     81,213

$ 3,936,491

0.48%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year-end.

2017 was the first year that this information has been made available due to implementation of GASB 68.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL PENSION PLAN SCHEDULES,                                       - 50 -



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL PENSION PLAN SCHEDULES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1.

Note 2.

Change of Benefit Terms:

There were no changes of benefit terms for this benefit.

Change of Assumptions:

There were no changes ha the assumptions.
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Fiscal
Year

Ending

MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE
NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET)

Wisconsin Retirement System
Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Plan Fiduciary
Proportion Proportionate Net Position as
of the Net Share of the a Percentage
Pension Net Pension Covered of the Total
Liability Liability Employee Pension
(Asset) (Asset) Payroll Liability (Asset)

06/30/15 0.15155728% $ ( 3,721,638) $ 20,908,290 102.74%
06/30/16 0.15001964% 2,437,790 21,070,044 98.20%
06/30/17 0.14913506% 1,229,229 21,546,989 99.12%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within
the fiscal year.

2015 was the first year that this information was made available due to implementation of GASB 68.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED WRS SCHEDULES.                                                                 - 52 °



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF THE DISTRICT’S CONTRIBUTIONS
Wisconsin Retirement System

Last 10 Fiscal Years*

Fiscal
Year

Ending

Contributions in Contributions as
Relation to the a Percentage

Contractually Contractually Contribution Covered of Covered
Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee

Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll

06/30/15 $ 1,465,228 $ 1,465,228 $ -- $ 20,908,290 7.01%
06/30/16 1,432,760 1,432,760 - - 21,070,044 6.80%
06/30/17 1,426,781 1,426,781 - - 21,546,989 6.62%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred
within the fiscal year.

2015 was the first year that this information was made available due to implementation of GASB 68.

SEE NOTES TO REQUIRED WRS SCHEDULES.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

NOTES TO REQUIRED WRS SCHEDULES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1.

Note 2.

Change of Benefit Terms:

There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in WRS.

Change of Assumptions:

There were no changes in the assumptions.



NIENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL -

GENERAL FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Variance
Original Final With Final
Budget B_ud~et Actual Bud~

Revenues:
Local sources $ 10,340,089 $ 10,285,516 $ 10,628,180 $ 342,664
Interdistrict sources 1,193,486 1,639,764 1,918,659 278,895
Intermediate sources 38,734 28,409 33,669 5,260
State sources 26,159,187 29,126,428 29,140,205 13,777
Federal sources 1,478,649 1,505,798 1,465,526 ( 40,272)
Other revenue 89,675 170,000 52,092 (117,908)

Total revenues 39,299,820 42,755,915 43,238,331 482,416

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Undifferentiated curriculum
Regular curriculum
Other instruction

Total instruction
Support services:

Pupil services
Instructional staff services
General administration
School building administration
Business administration
Other support services

Total support services
Nonprogram expenses

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating trmasfers (out)

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance, beginning of year

Fund balance, end of year

7,037,794 7,918,745 6,849,251 1,069,494
8,784,350 8,833,218 9,243,605 ( 410,387)
2,048,206 1,727,855 1,923,996 ( 196,141)

17,870,350 18,479,818 18,016,852 462,966

1,006,550 1,078,511 1,045,584 32,927
1,782,227 2,160,249 2,063,406 96,843

434,272 410,471 550,643 (    140,172)
2,485,531 2,691,000 2,499,259 191,741
5,088,987 6,789,852 8,574,235 ( 1,784,383)
2,203,453 1,808,136 1,493,662 314,474

13,001,020 14,938,219 16,226,789 (1,288,570)
2,863,986 3,587,488 3,848,201 ( 260,713)

33,735,356 37,005,525 38,091,842 (1,086,317)

5,564,464 5,750,390

(4,888,385) (5,487,819)

676,079 262,571

8,515,314 8,515,314
$ 9,191,393 $ 8,777,885

5,146,489 ( 603,901)

( 5,376,891) 110,928

230,402) (492,973)

8,515,314 - -
8,284,912 $ (492,973)
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL -

SPECIAL EDUCATION FUND
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Variance
Original Final With Final
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues:
Interdistrict sources $ 78,366 $ 78,000 $ 79,498 $ 1,498
hatermediate sources 41,644 30,000 11,092 (18,908)
State sources 1,788,421 1,852,000 1,826,422 ( 25,578)
Federal sources 953,099 977,398 923,920 ( 53,478)
Other sources 92 ......

Total revenues 2,861,622 2,937,398 2,840,932 ( 96;4662

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Special curriculmn
Other instruction

Total instruction
Support services:

Pupil services
Instructional staff services
Business administration
Other support services

Total support services
Nonprogram

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues
under expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance, beginning of year

Fund balance, end of year

5,879,409 6,373,779 6,333,104
2,855 800 1,908

5,882,264 6,374,579 6,335,012

918,239 942,881 952,234
355,356 504,107 369,316
323,472 322,150 265,842

1,666 20,500 20,036
1,598,733 1,789,638 1,607,428

264,010 251,000 265,383

7,745,007 8,415,217 8,207,823

(4,883,385)

40,675
( 1,108)

39,567

( 9,353)
134,791
56,308

464
182,210

( 14,383)

207,394

(5,477,819) (5,366,891) 110,928

4,883,385 5,477,819 5,366,891 ( 110,928)
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET -
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2017

ASSETS
Cash and investments
Accounts receivable
Due from other governments

Total assets

Special Capital
Revenue Food Community Improvement

Trust Fund Service Service Fund Totals

$ 37,375      $ 325,182 $ 102,308     $         15,089 $ 479,954
.... 7,596 -- 7,596
-- 10,339 .... 10,339

$ 37,375 $ 335,521 $ 109,904     $ 15,089 $ 497,889

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Li~bifities:

Accounts payable
Accrued salaries

related items
Total liabilities

30,372 $ 1,671 $ -- $ 32,043

-- 3,938 -- 3,938
30,372 5,609 -- 35,981

Fund balances:
Spendable:

Restricted
Assigned

Total fund balances

-- 305,149 -- 15,089 320,238
37,375 -- 104,295 -- 141,670
37,375 305,149 104,295 15,089 461,908

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 37,375 $ 335,521 $ 109;904 $    15,1389 $ 497,889
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES -

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Revenues:

Local sources
State sources
Federal sources
Other revenue

Total revenues

Special Capital
Revenue Food Community Improvement

Trust Fund Service Service Fund

$ 18,102 $ 514,354 $ 568,023
-- 43,279 --
-- 1,544,871 --
-- 561 --

18,102 2,103,065 568,023

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Undifferentiated curriculum 6,105 ....
Other instruction 10,806 ....

Food service - - 2,081,938 - -
Community service .... 877,238

Total expenditures 16,911 2,081,938 877,238

Excess of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances, beginning of year

Fund balances, end of year

1,191 21,127 (    309,215)

1,191 21,127 (    309,215)

36,184

$ 37,375

284,022 413,510

$ 305,149

Totals

$ 84 $ 1,100,563
-- 43,279
-- 1,544,871
-- 561
84 2,689,274

6,105
10,806

2,081,938
877,238

2,976,087

84 (286,813)

10,000 10,000
10,084 (276,813)

5,005 738,721

$ 104,295      $ 15,089     $ 461,908
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MENASNA JOINT SCHOOL DIST~CT
MENASNA, ~VISCONS~N

COMNINING NALANCE SHEET -
GENERAL FUND

June 30, 2017

ASSETS
Cash ~d ir~vestmems
Taxes receivable, net
Accouters receivable
Due ~?om other gove~r~ents
Prepaid excuse

Torn assets

Special
General Education

Fur~d Fund Eliminations

$ 7,511,161 $ 493,380 $ --
3,248,764 ....

68,608 1,000 - -
1,491,585 312,758 ° -

141,670 ....
$ 12,461,788 $ 807,138 $ -°

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,340,581
Accrued sala~es and related items2,836,295

Total liabilities 4, ! 76,876

Fund halites:
Nonspeadable 14 ! ,670
Spendable:
Assig~ g, 143,242

Total ~d baI~ces 8,284,912

Total liabilities and fired balances $ 12,461,788

5,562
801,576 --
807,138 --

$ 807,138 $    - -

Total
General

F~md

$ 8,004,541
3,248,764

69,608
1,804,343

t41,670
$ i3,268,926

$ 1,346,143
3,637,871
4,984,014

t41,670

8,143,242
8,284,9t2

$ 13,268,926
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Revenues:
Local sources
Interdistrict sources
Intermediate sources
State sources
Federal sources
Other revenue

Total re-venues

Expenditures:
Instruction:

Undifferentiated curriculum
Regular curriculum
Special curriculum
Other instruction

Total instruction
Support services:

Pupil services
Instructional staff services
General administration
School building administration
Business administration
Other support services

Total support services
Nonprogram expenses

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over
(under) expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Operating transfers in
Operating transfers (out)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances, beginning of year

Fund balances, end of year

Special
General Education
Fund Fund Eliminations

$ 10,628,180
1,918,659

33,669
29,140,205

1,465,526
52,092

43,238,331

6,849,251
9,243,605

1,923,996
18,016,852

1,045,584
2,063,406

550,643
2,499,259
8,574,235
1,493,662

16,226,789
3,848,201

38,091,842

5,146,489

79,498 $

11,092
1,826,422

923,920

2,840,932

6,333,104
1,908

6,335,012

952,234
369,316

265,842
20,036

1,607,428
265,383

8,207,823

(5,366,891)

-- 5,366,891 (5,366,891)
(5,376,891) -- 5,366,891

(230,402) ....

8,515,3t4 ....

$ 8,284,912 $ -- $ --

Total
General
Fund

$ 10,707,678
1,918,659

44,761
30,966,627
2,389,446

52,092
46,079,263

6,849,251
9,243,605
6,333,104
1,925,904

24,351,864

1,997,818
2,432,722

550,643
2,499,259
8,840,077
1,513,698

17,834,217
4,113,584

46,299,665

(220,402)

( lO,OOO)
(230,402)

8,515,314

$ 8,284,912
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
AGENCY FUNDS

June 30, 2017

ASSETS
Cash

LIABILITIES
Due to student organizations:

Menasha High School
Maplewood Middle School
Gegan Elementary School
Jefferson Elementary School
Clovis Grove Elementary School
Butte des Morts

Elementary School
Banta Elementary School
Nicolet Elementary School

Total liabilities

Beginning
Balance Additions

$ 262,119 $ 452,804

$ 177,675 $ 342,858
56,901 60,670

8,287 11,376
2,382 6,231

11,593 21,065

3,527 4,694
838 4,237
916 1,673

$ 262,119 $     452,804

Deductions

$ 473,945

$ 365,232
61,325
16,154
5,174

16,631

4,666
3,717
1,046

$ 473,945

Ending
Balance

$ 240,978

$ 155,301
56,246
3,509
3,439

16,027

3,555
1,358
1,543

$ 240,978



MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WIscoNSIN

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Passo’I~rough Gr~tor/

Award Description

Federal Pass-Throngh Aanmed

Co~og Identification Receivable
Number Number 6/30116

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AG~CULTURE

P~s-Through Programs From:

W-I Deparlmont ofl~blie Instruction:

Child Nutrition Cluster."

National School Breakfast

National School Luneh-ooncasb

National School Lunoh-cash

National School Milk

~_ Suzraner Food Serv~on Program

Child Nu~fon Cluster Totals

Child arid Adult Care Food Progr~n

Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program

10o553 A546-00000-703430

10.555 A001-00000-703430

10.555 A547-00000-703430

]0.555 A566-00000-703430

10.556 A548~0000-703430

10.559 ~86~0000-703430

10.558 A551-00000-703430

10.582 A376~0000-703430

U.S, DEPARTM~qT OF EDUCATION

Pass-Through Programs From:

WI Department of Public

TMe 1 Cluster:

Title I-A

T~fle I-A S~te ~o~ ]mpro~m~t

Acad~c ~ent T~acher

Specml E~catg~ Cluster:

~EA ~es~hool

Sp~i~ E~cafion Clusler Tot~s

Title IV-B 21st Cent~ Co~
~g Cent~

Aeq~fitJan ~o~s

Title ~-& Teanher/
T~g ~d Reciting F~d

CESA ~:

C~I

84.010 A141-00000-703430

84,010 A145q)0000~703430

8~,010 A154-00000-703430

84.027 A341-0000~-703430

84.173 A347-00000-703430

84.287 A367-00000-703430

84.365 A391-00000-703430

84.367 A365~000~703430

~.048 N/A

U.& DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Pass-Through Programs From:

W1 Departmenl of HeaRh Services:

Med~e~fl Assqst~c~ P~ogr’~n 93.778

To~s

Accrued

Grantor Receivable

E×pendi~wes Reimbursemem 6/30117

6,885

10,983

397

24

18,289

450,021 $ 452,934 $ 3,972

107,614 t07,614

792,906 797,671 6,218

23,839 24~94 142

2,1t6 2,133 7

44,745 44,745

1~21,241 1,429,191 ]0~339

70,353 70,353

53,276 53,276

284,203

2,419

14,571

301,193

224~678

18,674

243,352

121,925

35,192

42,993

801,114 648,009 437,308

47,219 7,638 42,000

I0,000 14,571 I0,000

858,333 670~18 489,308

698,721 711,887 211,512

37,282 42,04~ 13,91

736,003 753,933 225,422

250,088 335,008 37,005

83,939 !04,603 14,528

143,801 139,995 46,799

28A09 28,409 *°

26,787 317,283 336,233 7,837

$ 789,731 $ 3,962,726 $ 3,921,219 $ 831,238

SEE NOTES TO SCHEDULES OF EXPEND]TUlLES OF FEDERAL AND STATE AWARDS.
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULEOF EXPENDITURES OF STATE AWARDS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

DEPANTMENq" GF PUBLIC ~NSTRUCTION

Age P~en~s

Co~o~ Scion F~d LJb[~y

General Eq~Mi~o~

Edaca~o~" Effe¢~fve EvMaa6on System

CESA #6:

W~ DEPAR’I}~{ENT OF W(~NORCE

DEVELQPME~

CESA

Tog~s

State PassoTI~o~N~ Acc~aed A~c~aed

N~r N~mN~ 6t3@16 E×p~d~es Reimb~me~ 6fNH 7

255.10I 703430-100 $ -- $ 1,g26,422 $ 1,826,422 $          --

255.102 703430-107 ° ° 1%380 17,380 °-

255A03 70343%1~ -- 129,203 129,203

255 106 703430dlI ~- 192,454 192,454 --

255 107 793430-102 -- 53,736 53~36

255.201 703430-116 453,866 27,487,050 27~71,249 469~667

255.344 703430qOg -- 25,899 25~g99

255,926 703430~/21 -- 24g,32~ 248,526 --

255.940 703430°154 24,0g0 24,720 48,800 --

255.945 703430-1~3 560,550 928,250 L4gg,g00 --

255.950 703430-152 -- 7,689 7,699 --

255~956 703430-I66 -- 6,18g 6,188 --

255.1 @ N/A - - 11,092 11,092

445AI2 NA~ 6,200 5,260 8,160 3,300

$    1,044,696 $    30,963,669 $     3t,535,398 $ 472,967

SEE NOTES TO SCHEDULES OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AND STATE AWARDS. o 63 -



No~e 2.

No~e 3,

~tENASHA 30~NT SCHOOL ~ST~tCT
MENASHA~ WtSCONS~N

NOTES TO SCHEDULES OF E~END~TURES OF FEDERAL AND
STATE A~VA~S

For the Year Ended J~ne 30, 2017

Basis of Presentation:

Re accompanying schedules of expenditures of federal and state awards (schedules) inclnde the
federal and state grant activity of Mer~asha Joint School District ~der programs of the federa!
and state gove~rm~ents ~r ~e ye~ ended June 30, 201Z ~e ~fo~atioa ia these schedules is
presented in accordance win the requirements of T~fle 2 U.S~ Code of Federal Regulations P~
200, Un~rm Adminis~ra¢i~e Requiremen~ Cost Principles and A udi~ Requirements for ~}dera~
Award~ (Unifo~ Ga~dance), and the S~a~e Sing~re Audi~ Guidelines. Becaase the schedules
present only a selected po~ion of ~e operations of Menasha Joint School Direct, they ~e not
intended to and do not presem ~e financiN position, changes in ~he net assets or cash flow of
Menasha Joint School Dis~ct~

Policies:

Expendit~es repoged on the schedales are reported on the modiged accrual basis of acco~tingo
Such expenditures are recognized ~bllowing cost principles contained in the Urfifo~ Guid~ce,
wherein cegain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
Negative amounts shown on the schedNes represent adj~astments or credits made in the nodal
course of business to amonnts reported as expendit"~es h~ prior years. Men.ha Joint School
District has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimus indirect cost rate Mlowed ~der the
Unifo~ Gnidanceo Pass-~ou~ entity identifying numbers are presented where avNlableo

Special Ed~cafio~ and School Age Parests Program:

The 2016-2017 eligible costs ~der ~e state special education program as reposed by the
Dis~ict are $7,290,72%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORNIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Education
Menasha Joint School District
Menasha, Wisconsin

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the Urfited States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the gove~tal
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate rema~ng fund information of Menasha Joint School District
(District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Dis~ct’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon
dated January 24, 2018.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the District’s
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may
exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies
in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify a deficiency in int~nal
control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2017-001 that we
consider to be a significant deficiency.
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Comp~ance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards.

District’s Response to Findings

The District’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying corrective
action plan. The District’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Reporl

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

ERICKSON & ASSOCIATES, S.C.
Appleton, Wisconsin
January 24, 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM

GUIDANCE AND THE STATE SINGLE AUDIT GUIDELINES

Board of Education
Menasha 3oint School District
Menasha, Wisconsin

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal and State Program

We have audited Menasha Joint School District’s (District) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and the State Single Audit Guidelines that
could have a direct and material effect on each of the District’s major federal and state programs for the year
ended June 30, 2017. The District’s major federal and state programs are identified in the summary of
auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with federal and state statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal and state a_wards applicable to its federal and state programs.

Auditor’s Responsib~ty

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the District’s major federal and state
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our
audit of compliance ha accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Past 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), and the State Single Audit Guidelines. Those standards, the Uniform
Guidance, and the GuideBnes require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a
direct and materi!l effect on a major federal or state program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence about the District’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
and state program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal and State Program

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal and state programs
for the year ended June 30, 2017.
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Report on Inte~al Coat~oi Over Comp~ance

Management of the District is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered the District’s internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal or state program to
determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on compliance for each major federal and state program and to test and report on internal control
over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and the State Single Audit Guidelines, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over
compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal or state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal or
state program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal or state program that is less severe than a
material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solety to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance and the State Single Audit Guidelines. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

ERICKSON & ASSOCIATES, S.C.
Appleton, Wisconsin
January 24, 2018
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
NIENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULEOF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Summary of Auditor’s Results:

Financial Statements
Type of auditor’s report on financial statements:
Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency0es) identified
not considered to be material weaknesses?

Noncompliance material to the financial statements?

Federal A wards
Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant defieiency(ies) identified
not considered to be material weaknesses?

Type of auditor’s report on compliance
for major programs:
Any audit findings disclosed that are
required to be reported in accordance
with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?

Identification of major federal programs:

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type 13 programs:

Audkee qualified as a low-risk auditee?

State Awards
Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified

not considered to be material weaknesses?
Type of auditor’s report on compliance
for major programs:
Any audit findings disclosed that are
required to be reported in accordance
with the State Single Audit Guidelines?

Identification of major state programs:

84.027
84.173

84.010
84o010
84.010

255o201
255.945

Unmodified opinion

No

Yes
No

No

No

Unmodified opinion

No

Special Education Cluster
IDEA Flow Through

IDEA Preschool Entitlement
Title I Cluster

Title I-A
Title I-A State Program Improvement

Academic Parent Teacher Teams

$750,000
No

No

No

Unmodified opinion

No

General Equalization Aid
Per Pupil Adjustment A~d
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - CONTINUED
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Summary of Auditor’s Results - Continued:

Identification of state programs w~th required procedures:
255.101

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs:

Special Education and School
Age Parents

$250,000

Financial Sta,ement Findings:

2017-001 Financial Statement Preparation

Condition:

Criteria:

Cause:

Effect:

Identification of a
Repeat Finding:

Recommendation:

Views of
Responsible

Officials:

The District has historically relied upon its auditors to assist in the preparation of the
district-wide financial statements and footnotes as part of its external financial
reporting process. Accordingly, the District’s ability to prepare financial statements in
accordance with GAAP is based, in part, on its reliance on its external auditors, who
cannot by definition be considered part of the District’s internal controls.

We are required to report on whether the District is able to prepare financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The preparation
of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires internal controls over both
(1) recording, processing, and summarizing accounting data, and (2) reporting district-
wide and fund financial statements, including the related footnotes.

The additional costs with hiring staff experienced in preparing financial statements,
along with additional training time, outweigh the derived benefits.

Information provided to mm~agement throughout the year may not be presented in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

This is a repeat finding from previous audits, see 2016-001.
The District should continue to evaluate the cost/benefit of outsourcing the task of
preparing the financial statements to the external auditors.

See District’s corrective action plan.

Federal and State Findings and Questioned Costs: None reported
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MENASHA JOINT SCHOOL DISTRICT
MENASHA, WISCONSIN

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Status of Prior Year Findings:

2016-001 Financial Statement Preparation

Management continues to believe that due to budget constraints~ it is not practicable ~br the District
to hire additional staffto correct this finding. This is considered to be a repeat finding.

2016-002 Journal Entry Preparation

Management put procedures in place to correct this finding. This was not a finding for 2016-2017~

-71 -



l~rian A. Adesso
100 Main St., Suite 300

P.O. Box 360
Menasha, WI 54952

Ph: (920) 967-1427
Fax: (920-751-5038

vcww.mjsd.k12.wLu~

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

2017-001 Financial Statement Preparation
Corrective Action Plan: The District has evaluated the cost/benefit of outsourcing the task of
preparing the financial statements to an external accountant. It would be cost prohibitive to hire
additional staff or outsource the task to an outside accountant. However, management of the District
has obtained the necessary skills, knowledge, and experience to accept responsibility for the
preparation of the District’s financial statements.
Anticipate Completion Date: Ongoing

Contact Information: For more information regarding this finding please contact Brian Adesso.

Brian Adesso
Director of Business
920-967-1427

~’Reach~n~ Ever~ Student Evew Day"
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